115445

115445

NO. 71544-5-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BEL AIR & BRINEY, A General Partnership; NICK BRINEY, A Single Man; and ROGER BELAIR, A Married Man,

Appellants,

and

CITY OF KENT,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREA DARVAS

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

THE HUNSINGER LAW FIRM Attorney for Appellants BEL AIR & BRINEY; NICK BRINEY; AND ROGER BELAIR

By: MICHAEL D. HUNSINGER WSBA NO. 7662

100 South King Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 624-1177

I. INTRODUCTION

Equitable subrogation typically comes into play when a third party pays a debtor's outstanding debt to his lender without any formal agreement between the third party and the debtor. That third party will be equitably subrogated to the lender's interest if and to the extent that the debtor would otherwise be unjustly enriched.

Here, Appellants Bel Air & Briney were owed \$134,000, secured by a second deed of trust encumbering the debtor's real property. Respondent City of Kent ("City") purchased that property for \$392,000, of which approximately \$197,000 was used to satisfy the first deed of trust. The escrow company involved in the transaction disbursed the remainder to the owner, including the \$134,000 that should have been distributed to Bel Air & Briney, due to the City's title insurer's failure to detect Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust.

The Trial Court erred when it granted the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied Bel Air & Briney's Motion for Summary Judgment, because the latter were not unjustly enriched by the City's purchase payment, did not receive a windfall, were materially prejudiced by the grant, and the City would be compensated by its title insurer for any damage it might have

suffered by the denial of its application for equitable subrogation.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying the Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Respondent was not entitled to the application of equitable subrogation because the Appellants were not unjustly enriched by the Respondent's payment of the senior secured debt, were materially prejudiced by granting equitable subrogation, and any damage suffered by the Respondent from such a ruling would be paid by its title insurer, whose error caused the problem in the first place.

III. ISSUES REGARDING THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Was it not error for the Trial Court to grant the remedy of equitable subrogation to the City of Kent when Bel Air & Briney was materially prejudiced as a result?
- B. Was it not error for the Trial Court to refuse to consider that the City of Kent was likely to be compensated by its title insurer for damages it would have suffered had its claim for equitable subrogation been denied?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Bel Air & Briney Were the Holders of a Second Deed of Trust Against the Tran Property.

Bel Air & Briney ("B&B") is a general partnership between Roger L. Bel Air and Nick Briney ("Briney"). (CP 98) Mr. Briney worked for SeaFirst Bank (later acquired by Bank of America) for 20 years, becoming a Vice President of Operations and Personnel. (CP 98-99) He met Mr. Bel Air when they both worked for SeaFirst and formed B&B over 35 years ago, initially fixing up and selling real estate, then purchasing discounted contracts, and ultimately making direct loans. (CP 99)

Hiep Nguyen, Hoang Tran, and Dun Tram ("Tran") gave a promissory note ("the Promissory Note") to B&B dated June 13, 2007, in the principal amount of \$134,000. (CP 99) The Promissory Note matured on December 13, 2007, with monthly interest-only payments due beginning July 13, 2007. (CP 99)

Tran made each of the five monthly payments on the Promissory Note between July and November 2007. (CP 99) Rather than pay the \$134,000 due B&B in December 2007, Tran obtained B&B's consent to extend the balloon payment deadline for another six months to June 13, 2008, in return for which the

principal amount of the Promissory Note was increased by \$9,500 to \$143,500 and the monthly payments to \$1,435. (CP 99)

The Promissory Note was secured by a deed of trust dated June 13, 2007 ("the B&B Deed of Trust"), which encumbered four properties, identified in the B&B Deed of Trust and here as Parcels A through D. (CP 99) Parcel C, which was the subject of the lawsuit involved in this appeal, is located in Kent, Washington. (CP 99)

When B&B accepted the Promissory Note and Deed of Trust, it knew that each of the four parcels encumbered by its Deed of Trust was already serving as collateral for one or more loans as of June 2007 and, consequently, the Deed of Trust would be in a junior position on each parcel. (CP 99) It was in second position in parcels A (behind a deed of trust securing a \$550,000 debt) and C (behind a \$189,000 deed of trust in favor of Mortgagelt, Inc.), and in third position in parcels B (behind a total of \$241,500) and D (behind a total of about \$260,000 in secured debt). (CP 99)

Like so many other Americans in the mid-2000's, Tran had purchased these properties and used their increasing valuations as collateral to borrow more money to buy more property, assuming the parcels' values would continue to go up. (CP 100)

The City of Kent decided to develop an Aquatic Center on the block where Parcel C is located and began the process of acquiring the properties necessary to do so in 2006. (CP 100)

During negotiations with Tran, the City of Kent received a preliminary commitment for title insurance from Pacific Northwest Title Company of Washington, Inc. ("PNWT"), dated March 14, 2007. (CP 100) The preliminary commitment offered a title policy that would include a special exception for the first deed of trust to Mortgagelt. (CP 100) It did not include, and could not have included, an exception for the B&B Deed of Trust because that instrument was not recorded until June 15, 2007, three months after the Preliminary Commitment was issued. (CP 100)

B. Parcel C Was Sold to the City of Kent for \$392,500. The First Deed of Trust was Paid Off At Closing But the \$143,000 From the Remainder That Was Supposed to be Paid to Bel Air & Briney to Satisfy its Deed of Trust Instead Went to the Owner Due to the City's Title Insurer's Error.

The sale of Parcel C closed on January 31, 2008 with the cash payment of \$392,500 from the City of Kent to Tran through the PNWT escrow department. (CP 100) Mortgagelt received \$196,894.17 from the sales proceeds in satisfaction of its outstanding loan and reconveyed its deed of trust. (CP 100)

As of January 31, 2008, the amount owing to B&B under the Promissory Note and secured by the B&B Deed of Trust was \$143,305.42. (CP 100) After the Mortgagelt loan and closing costs were paid, Tran received \$168,499.50 at closing, and another \$25,000 later after release of a holdback, for a total of \$193,499.50. (CP 100) Had B&B's debt been paid at closing, Tran would have still received approximately \$50,000 in net sale proceeds. (CP 100) However, B&B received no funds: the entire \$143,305 that was supposed to have been paid to B&B was instead disbursed to Tran. (CP 100)

B&B received no money from the closing because PNWT apparently did not discover and thus did not disclose to the escrow agent the existence of the B&B Deed of Trust. (CP 101) Consequently, the PNWT escrow agent was unaware of the existence of the Tran debt to B&B and did not disburse any of the sales proceeds to them. (CP 101) The title insurance policy PNWT issued to the City of Kent dated January 31, 2008 does not contain any exception for the B&B Deed of Trust. (CP 101)

C. Tran Defaulted on the Promissory Note to Bel Air & Briney Shortly After He Pocketed Their Money from the Sale, and Bel Air & Briney Soon Had No Collateral From Which to Collect Any of the Money It was Owed by Tran.

Tran never informed B&B of the Parcel C sale, let alone that he had pocketed \$194,000, \$143,300 of which should have gone to B&B in return for the reconveyance of its Deed of Trust. (CP 101) B&B was not aware of the sale of Parcel C until July of 2012, over four and one-half years later. (CP 101)

Following the December 2007 extension agreement of the Promissory Note, Tran made the next six monthly payments to B&B on time. (CP 101)

In June 2008 Tran asked for and obtained another six month extension to December 2008, in return for which the principal balance of the Promissory Note was increased by \$10,000 to \$153,500, and the monthly payment was increased to \$1,535. (CP 101)

Tran made one additional payment -- \$1,535 in July 2008 -- and one, final one in October 2008 for \$1,835, following Mr. Briney's requests for payment, but B&B never received any more money from Tran despite Briney's attempts to contact him. (CP 101)

Because of the suddenly declining values of real property in the Seattle area and all over the country beginning in late 2008, the equity in the other three parcels securing the Promissory Note vaporized, and Tran defaulted on his debts on the other three parcels. (CP 101-102)

D. In 2012 Bel Air & Briney Discovered the 2008 Sale and the Error Made By Kent's Title Insurer, and Litigation Ensued.

In early July 2012 after Mr. Briney was contacted by the real estate agent regarding Parcel B, he again tried to contact Tran, initially unsuccessfully. (CP 102) He then reviewed the King County recorded documents website to attempt to see what, if anything, was going on with Parcel C. (CP 102) He discovered, to his astonishment, that on January 31, 2008 Tran had sold the parcel to the City of Kent for \$392,500. (CP 102) Mr. Briney knew that the B&B deed of trust was in second position, behind a first deed of trust for \$189,500 (as of November 2005, when it was recorded). (CP 102)

Mr. Briney located Hoang and Tram and met with them on July 14, 2012, becoming convinced that they had no money to pay B&B. (CP 102) Following that conversation Mr. Briney contacted the City of Kent and had numerous discussions with

representatives of both the City and PNWT, which he learned had issued the title insurance policy regarding the Tran transaction.

(CP 102) The contact from Mr. Briney was the first time the City of Kent had actual knowledge of the Deed of Trust. (CP 102)

The City of Kent gave notice under its title policy of B&B's claim. (CP 103) First American Title Insurance Company, as successor to PNWT, has acknowledged the claim and is providing the defense on behalf of the City of Kent, including paying the City of Kent's costs incurred in connection with this litigation. (CP 103)

The City of Kent obtained an appraisal of Parcel C indicating that its as-is fair market value on October 30, 2012 was \$110,000. (CP 103)

E. The Trial Court Granted the City of Kent's Motion for Summary Judgment Awarding It a Lien Senior to the Bel Air & Briney Deed of Trust in the Amount of \$196,894.17, and Denied the City's Right to Foreclose on It.

After agreeing on a stipulated set of facts (CP 65-97), both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment. (CP 15-64 and 151-165 for Respondent; CP 98-116, 117-150, and 166-220 for the Appellants) On January 21, 2014 the Trial Court entered its Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, granting the Respondent's and denying the Appellants' Motions (CP 221-226).

The Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Order (CP 235-242), which was denied on April 9, 2014 (CP 282-284). At the same time, the Trial Court entered a Judgment in favor of the Respondent (CP 285-288), although it had never been presented to the Court (CP 295-302). The Judgment not only ordered that the Appellants' deed of trust "is subordinate to City of Kent's lien on the Property" but that the Respondent's lien be sold by the King County Sheriff "in the manner provided by law for foreclosures and in accordance with the practice of this Court", that the Respondent "may credit-bid at such Sheriff's Sale up to a maximum of \$196,894.17", and that the first \$196,894.17 from the proceeds from said sale after deducting costs of sale would be paid to the Respondent. (CP 286-287)

The Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Judgment contending that there was no legal basis for the foreclosing of the Respondent's equitable lien. (CP 289-294) The Trial Court agreed that "[t]here is no apparent legal authority for the City to foreclose on its equitable subrogation", and granted the Appellants' second Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 346-348) The Respondents have filed a Motion for Reconsideration of that Order. (CP 349-361)

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review And Burden Of Proof: This Court Reviews the Order Granting Respondent's Motion For Summary Judgment De Novo.

CR 56(c) sets forth the conditions for granting a summary judgment motion: "[T]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

A material fact is a fact upon which the outcome of the litigation depends, in whole or in part. The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact, and all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against the movant. *Morris v. McNicol*, 83 Wn.2d 491, 494, 519 P.2d 7 (1974). Here, the parties agree there are no disputed material facts: which party is to prevail is solely a matter of law.

Of course, this Court reviews de novo the summary judgment order. *Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d 549, 562, 290 3d 99 (2012).

B. Equitable Subrogation is Appropriate Where it Would Avoid the Unjust Enrichment of a Junior Lien Holder.

As the Washington Supreme Court recently stated in Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566, 573-574, 304 P.3d 472 (2013):

Equitable subrogation allows one party to step into the shoes of a second party who is owed a debt or obligation and to receive the benefit of that debt or obligation, in the absence of any contractual agreement or assignment of rights between those two parties or the debtor. Subrogation is permitted without assignment in order to prevent unjust enrichment. Unjust enrichment is an equitable doctrine; thus this sort of subrogation is called equitable subrogation.

In its simplest form equitable subrogation comes into play when a third party pays a debtor's outstanding debt to his lender without any formal agreement between the parties. Under certain circumstances, equity would permit that third party to take over the lender's interest and receive the continuing payments from the debtor. In other party would words. the third subrogated to the lender's interest to avoid a windfall to the debtor, who would otherwise be unjustly enriched.

As a general rule, a mortgage (which is now almost always in the form of a deed of trust in non-agricultural Western

Washington but the generic term "mortgage" will be used throughout this brief) must be recorded against the real property it encumbers to secure the debt in order to be enforceable. In *Bank of America, N.A. v. Prestance Corp.,* 160 Wn.2d 560, 564-565,160 P.3d 17 (2007), the Washington State Supreme Court explained the interplay between the state statutory scheme for the recording of mortgages and equitable subrogation, especially as it involves refinancing:

For example, suppose A, a homeowner, has two mortgages: one recorded first by bank B and one recorded second by bank C. recording act says B has a higher priority because it recorded first, putting the world on notice as to its interest in A's land. RCW 65.08.070. If D fully discharges [first deed of trust holder] B's equitable subrogation then substitutes D for B, so D has a higher priority than [second deed of trust holder] C, even though D recorded after. See Jackson Co. v. Boylston Mut. Ins. Co., 139 Mass. 508, 510, 2 N.E. 103, 104 (1885). At first blush. equitable subrogation conflicts with the recording act because it is an exception to the general rule "first in time, first in right." But no new lien or interest is created: D simply takes over B's interest and that interest came first in time. C never expected his priority to promoted simply because refinanced the mortgage with a new

company. C bargained with A to have a second-priority mortgage; it is immaterial who has priority before C. See RESTATEMENT (THIRD) §7.6 cmt. A, at 510.

In Washington, mortgage priority is important. If the holder of the first mortgage forecloses, "the second-priority mortgagee knows he can recover any surplus remaining only after the first-priority mortgagee has been fully satisfied." *Id.* at p. 565, fn. 4 If a foreclosure sale is conducted regarding the first mortgage, all junior mortgages and other liens are erased from the encumbered property and the second mortgagee receives only the sale proceeds remaining, if any, after the first mortgage and expenses pertaining to the foreclosure are paid in full. RCW 61.24.080

The Supreme Court noted in *Prestance* that "[d]espite an initial resistance to equitable subrogation, many courts now apply it liberally". *Id.*, page 565. It cited with approval Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages ¶7.6 (1997), which encourages that more liberal approach,

(a) One who fully performs an obligation of another, secured by a mortgage, becomes by subrogation the owner of the obligation and the mortgage to the extent necessary to prevent unjust enrichment. Even though the performance would otherwise discharge the obligation and the mortgage, they are preserved and the mortgage retains its priority in the hands of the subrogee.

- (b) By way of illustration, subrogation is appropriate to prevent unjust enrichment if the person seeking subrogation performs the obligation
 - in order to protect his or her interest;
 - (2) under a legal duty to do so;
 - (3) on account of misrepresentation, mistake, duress, undue influence, deceit, or other similar imposition; or
 - (4) upon a request from the obligor or the obligor's successor to do so, if the person performing was promised repayment and reasonably expected to receive a security interest in the real estate with the priority of the mortgage being discharged, and if subrogation will not materially prejudice the holders of intervening interests in the real estate. ld., page 580 (emphasis added)

In *Prestance*, the Court discussed the windfall usually reaped by a second lienholder when the first lienholder's debt is satisfied, enabling the second lienholder to move up the priority ladder. Because of the risks of foreclosure of the first-priority mortgagee, "... second – priority mortgages often include terms to help alleviate this risk, such as higher interest rates. It is unfair then to allow a second-priority mortgagee to take a first-priority but still enforce the previously bargained-for terms. He gains the security of a first-priority loan, while keeping the favorable conditions of a second-priority loan." *Id.*, p. 565, fn. 4

Nevertheless, the Supreme Court in *Prestance* emphasized the importance of protecting the junior lienholder if it would be harmed by the proposed subrogation instead of receiving an unearned windfall. "Equitable subrogation *should never be allowed* if a junior interest is materially prejudiced, but if the junior interests are unaffected, then there is no reason to deny it." *Id.*, page 572 "Equitable doctrine is a broad doctrine and should be followed whenever justice demands it *and where there is no material prejudice to junior interest*." *Id.*, page 581 (emphasis added in both)

In Prestance Washington Mutual had the first mortgage and

Bank of America's mortgage was in second position. The property owner applied to Wells Fargo Bank for a loan, a portion of which was to pay off Washington Mutual's debt. Wells Fargo was aware of Bank of America's second mortgage because it was disclosed on the preliminary title commitment issued by a title insurance company. Wells Fargo nevertheless made the loan to the property owner, expecting the proceeds to pay off both debts, thus establishing its mortgage in first position. Washington Mutual's mortgage was paid off and removed from the title but Bank of America's debt was not paid. Consequently its mortgage advanced to the first position.

Wells Fargo sued to equitably subrogate its mortgage ahead of Bank of America's mortgage. Bank of America contended that Wells Fargo's mortgage should not step into first position because it was aware of Bank of America's junior deed of trust when it made the loan. The Supreme Court disagreed and granted equitable subrogation, since "Bank of America offers no principled reason why it should receive an unearned windfall at [Wells Fargo's] expense..." Id., page 582

The Supreme Court returned to equitable subrogation last summer in Newman Park, supra. Newman Park, LLC owned real

estate that was encumbered by a first mortgage in favor of Hometown National Bank ("Hometown") in the amount of \$400,000. One of Newman Park's principals borrowed \$1.5 million from Columbia Community Bank ("Columbia Community"), \$400,000 of which was used to pay off the Hometown debt, so Columbia Community's mortgage securing the \$1.5 million loan was in first position. Columbia Community was unaware that the borrower did not have the authority to use Newman Park's property as collateral (he presented the bank with forged documents ostensibly demonstrating that authority). When the borrower defaulted on the loan, Newman Park sued to invalidate Columbia Community's mortgage.

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