. 71544-5

115445

### NO. 71544-5-1

## COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

BEL AIR & BRINEY, a general partnership; NICK BRINEY, a single man; and ROGER B. BEL AIR and CANDACE A. BEL AIR, husband and wife,

Appellants,

and

CITY OF KENT,

Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 Eleanor H. Walstad, WSBA #44241 SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4950 Seattle, WA 98101.3951 206.838.9100

ORIGINAL

##

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

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly applied the doctrine of equitable subrogation. Both factors adopted by the Washington Supreme Court in *Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC*, 117 Wn.2d 566, 305 P.2d 472 (2013) weigh in favor of the doctrine's application. Without it, Bel Air & Briney would have received a windfall from the City of Kent's

payoff of the senior lien. Further, it is not prejudiced by remaining in its second-position behind the City of Kent, which steps into the shoes of Mortgagelt. Lastly, the fact that the City of Kent purchased title insurance is of no relevance to the doctrine of equitable subrogation. This analysis is required by the recent Washington case law and supported by cases from other jurisdictions with a similar approach as this state.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts review summary judgment decisions de novo, performing the same inquiry as the trial court. *Ski Acres, Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 118 Wn.2d 852, 854, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992). Summary judgment should be granted if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56; *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

The trial court correctly granted the City of Kent's motion for summary judgment and denied Bel Air & Briney's cross-motion for summary judgment.

B. Washington's Adoption of the Restatement's Approach
Anticipates the Application of Equitable Subrogation in the
Purchaser-Owner Context

The Washington Supreme Court recently discussed the doctrine of equitable subrogation in *Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC*, 117 Wn.2d 566, 305 P.2d 472 (2013). The Court expressly adopted in full the liberal application of equitable subrogation enunciated in Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 7.6 Subrogation (1997) ("Restatement"). *Columbia Community Bank*, 117 Wn.2d at 580. The Restatement approach is "the more simple and clear approach" and "the more well-reasoned rule" than the various approaches adopted by other jurisdictions. *Id.*, 117 Wn.2d at 570 and 581.

The Court adopted the Restatement approach because it embodies the Washington courts' principles regarding equity, and equitable subrogation in particular. The Court explained that "Washington courts embrace a long and robust tradition of applying the doctrine of equity" and the Restatement approach is "[i]n accordance with our prior case law, with the modern trend, and with our traditional robust reading of the doctrine of equity." *Id.*, 117 Wn.2d at 569-570.

The Restatement provides:

(a) One who fully performs an obligation of another, secured by a mortgage, becomes by subrogation the owner of the obligation and the mortgage to the extent necessary to prevent unjust enrichment. Even though the performance

would otherwise discharge the obligation and the mortgage, they are preserved and the mortgage retains its priority in the hands of the subrogee.

- (b) By way of illustration, subrogation is appropriate to prevent unjust enrichment if the person seeking subrogation performs the obligation:
  - (1) in order to protect his or her interest;
  - (2) under a legal duty to do so;
  - (3) on account of misrepresentation, mistake, duress, undue influence, deceit, or other similar imposition; or
  - (4) upon a request from the obligor or the obligor's successor to do so, if the person performing was promised repayment and reasonably expected to receive a security interest in the real estate with the priority of the mortgage being discharged, and if subrogation will not materially prejudice the holders of intervening interests in the real estate.

Restatement § 7.6. The comment elaborates upon this rule: "Subrogation is an equitable remedy designed to avoid a person's receiving an unearned windfall at the expense of another." *Id.*, cmt. a.

In other words, the court determines whether application of the doctrine of equitable subrogation (1) prevents a windfall for the party objecting to the application of the doctrine, and (2) will not materially prejudice the party objecting to the application of the doctrine.

The Restatement includes an illustration that is analogous to the facts of this case, namely where a purchaser pays off a seller's loan but fails to satisfy, or obtain a discharge of, a junior lien.

[Illustration No. 21:] Mortgagor holds Blackacre subject to two mortgages, held respectively by Mortgagee-1 and Mortgagee-2. Mortgagor sells Blackacre to Grantee, falsely stating to Grantee that Blackacre is subject only to the first mortgage and promising that Mortgagor will pay and satisfy that mortgage obligation with the proceeds of the sale. Grantee, believing this statement, makes no title examination and is unaware of the existence of the second mortgage. Grantee completes the purchase. Mortgagor uses the proceeds of the sale to satisfy the first mortgage but does not satisfy the second. Grantee is entitled to be subrogated to the rights of Mortgagee-1 as against Mortgagee-2 and may enforce the first mortgage against Mortgagee-2.

Illustration 21 states that the grantee lacks knowledge of the intervening lien. However, knowledge is not necessarily fatal to the grantee's claim of subrogation, if equity would nonetheless dictate the recognition of subrogation. See the discussion in Comment *e*, infra. Moreover, the grantee's right to subrogation is not lost even if the second mortgage was recorded and the grantee might be held to have had constructive notice of it under the applicable recording act. Although the grantee may have examined the title carelessly or may have made no title examination at all, if the cash price paid by the grantee included the second mortgage balance, subrogation to, rather than extinction of, the first mortgage will result in order to prevent unjust enrichment of the second mortgagee.

Restatement § 7.6 cmt. d. In this example, the Mortgagor is Ms. Tran,

Mortgagee-1 is MortgageIt, Mortgagee-2 is Bel Air & Briney, and Grantee
is the City of Kent. Thus because the City of Kent paid off MortgageIt's

first-position mortgage and paid Ms. Tran cash sufficient to pay off Bel Air & Briney's second-position lien, the City of Kent is equitably subrogated to the extent it paid off MortgageIt's first-position mortgage and Bel Air & Briney remain in second-position despite the fact that the City of Kent had title insurance.

# C. Washington Courts Have Long Applied Equitable Subrogation in the Owner-Purchaser Context

Even before adopting the Restatement approach, the Washington courts have applied equitable subrogation to purchasers and owners of real property. In *Coy v. Raabe*, Coy leased property from McClellan with an option to purchase the property. 69 Wn.2d 346, 419 P.2d 728 (1966). Raabe subsequently purchased the property from McClellan. As part of the purchase, Raabe paid the Internal Revenue Service to have tax liens removed from the property. Raabe was not aware of the lease-option held by Coy. Coy sued to enforce his purchase option. The Washington Supreme Court held that Raabe, the purchaser-owner, was equitably subrogated to the claims of the United States government that he had paid. In turn, the Court allowed Coy to enforce his option, subject to his paying "such sum as shall be necessary to make defendants Raabe whole." *Id.*, 69 Wn.2d at 351. The Court explained that "[w]ere we not to grant subrogation, plaintiff would be unjustly enriched at the expense of the

Raabes, who paid off the encumbrances against the property plaintiff is now obtaining." *Id.* 

In *Olson v. Chapman*, 4 Wn.2d 522, 104 P.2d 344 (1940), Olson contracted to purchase an undivided one-third interest in property owned by Martha Reese on December 19, 1913. From 1915 to 1928, Olson, and his estate after he died, paid the full amount of taxes levied on the property. Later, an administrator was appointed for Olson's estate and authorized to commence a lawsuit to recover the share of taxes that should have been paid by the owners of the other two-thirds of the property. The Supreme Court held that a tenant in common who pays taxes on the jointly owned property is entitled, through equitable subrogation, to a lien on the interest held by the property's co-owner.

Thus, application of the doctrine to equitably subrogate the City of Kent, which purchased and owns the property just as the purchaser-owner in *Raabe* and the tenant-in-common in *Olson*, is appropriate.

D. <u>Under the Restatement Approach, the City of Kent is Entitled to the Application of Equitable Subrogation</u>

The parties do not dispute that the City of Kent lacked knowledge of Bel Air & Briney's lien. Tran did not inform the City of Kent of the Bel Air & Briney deed of trust at any time. CP 70, ¶ 21. In fact, City of Kent did not learn of the Bel Air & Briney deed of trust until more than four years after it purchased Parcel C. CP 70, ¶¶ 22-23. Nevertheless,

knowledge is not a factor that Washington courts consider in analyzing the doctrine of equitable subrogation. In *Bank of America, N.A. v. Prestance Corp.*, the Court noted that "[c]reating distinctions between constructive notice and actual knowledge is dangerous; the recording act demands constructive knowledge be tantamount to actual knowledge. Otherwise why should one bother investigating the records before acquiring a new mortgage if his ignorance—no matter how willful—could possibly behoove him?" *Bank of America, N.A. v. Prestance Corp.*, 160 Wn.2d 566, 570 fn. 8, 160 P.3d 17 (2007). *See also* Restatement § 7.6 cmt. d ("knowledge is not necessarily fatal to the grantee's claim of subrogation, if equity would nonetheless dictate the recognition of subrogation").

Thus, the analysis turns on whether there would be a windfall or material prejudice.

1. Bel Air & Briney Would Receive a Windfall if City of Kent was Not Equitably Subrogated

When a first lienholder's debt is satisfied, the second lienholder reaps a windfall when it is enabled to move from second-position to first-position without taking any action to warrant such an advancement.

Prestance Corp., 160 Wn.2d at 572; Columbia Community Bank, 117

Wn.2d at 575. For example, in Prestance Corp., the Court explained that "Bank of America could have assumed Washington Mutual's first-priority mortgage instead of taking a second-priority position. But Bank of

America accepted the risks inherent in its security and does not deserve an unearned windfall simply because Sugihara refinanced." *Id.* Lenders who take a second-position lien often bargain for favorable terms, such as higher interest rates. *Prestance Corp.*, 160 Wn.2d at fn. 4. They do this to offset the risk inherent in a second-position lien: a foreclosure of the first mortgage that erases the junior liens but does not yield any surplus funds to be paid to the second-position lender. *Id.* The *Prestance Corp.* Court explained:

If the first-priority mortgagee forecloses, then a second-priority mortgagee knows he can recover any surplus remaining only after the first-priority mortgagee has been fully satisfied. Therefore, second-priority mortgages often include terms to help alleviate this risk, such as higher interest rates. It is unfair then to allow a second-priority mortgagee to take a first-priority but still enforce the previously bargained-for terms. He gains the security of a first-priority loan, while keeping the favorable conditions of a second-priority loan.

Id.

Whenever this situation arises, Washington courts find that there would be a windfall that necessitates the application of the doctrine of equitable subrogation. *Columbia Community Bank*, 117 Wn.2d at 571 ("CCB was aware that HNB had a priority security interest in the Newman Park property, so CCB required Sturtevant to use \$400,000 of CCB's \$1.5 million loan to pay off HNB fully as a condition of CCB loaning

Sturtevant the new money. Through this transaction, essentially a refinance, CCB expected to acquire the first priority security interest in the property."); *Prestance Corp.*, 160 Wn.2d at 572 ("Bank of America could have assumed Washington Mutual's first-priority mortgage instead of taking a second-priority position. But Bank of America accepted the risks inherent in its security and does not deserve an unearned windfall simply because Sugihara refinanced."); *Coy*, 69 Wn.2d 346 (purchaser equitably subrogated to extent paid off federal tax liens on the property); *Olson*, 4 Wn.2d 522 (co-tenant equitably subrogated to extent of paid off property taxes).

Without equitable subrogation in favor of the City of Kent, Bel Air & Briney would be given an unwarranted windfall by its lien being elevated from second-position to first.

First, without equitable subrogation, Bel Air & Briney would receive a windfall because it would advance in priority despite the fact that it negotiated a high interest rate to offset the risk of taking a second-position lien and took no action to warrant an advance in priority. In June 2007, Bel Air & Briney loaned \$134,000 in return for a promissory note with an initial interest rate of 12 percent. CP 66, ¶ 2; CP 118, ¶ 4; CP 73. When Bel Air & Briney granted Ms. Tran her first six-month extension, it increased the loan amount by \$9,500, a seven percent loan fee, which

equates to an additional 14 percent annual rate of interest on top of the existing 12 percent rate. CP 66, ¶ 3; CP 118, ¶ 7. On the second sixmonth extension, another \$10,000 was added to the loan. CP 66, ¶ 4; CP 118, ¶ 7. This is another seven percent loan fee, which equates to an additional 14 percent annual rate of interest on top of the prior 14 percent plus 12 percent. After Tran defaulted, the interest rate increased to 24 percent. CP 66, ¶ 2. (The interest alone now totals nearly two times Bel Air & Briney's original investment.)

Second, the Restatement, adopted in full by the Washington
Supreme Court, provides that where "the cash price paid by the grantee
included the second mortgage balance, subrogation to, rather than
extinction of, the first mortgage will result in order to prevent unjust
enrichment of the second mortgagee." Restatement § 7.6 cmt. d;

Columbia Community Bank, 117 Wn.2d at 580. At the closing of the sale
of Parcel C, Ms. Tran received sufficient cash to pay off the debt owed to
Bel Air & Briney. CP 69, ¶¶ 15-16. There is no legal support for Bel Air
& Briney's argument that these facts establish that Bel Air & Briney
would not have received a windfall.

Subrogating the City of Kent to MortgageIt's security position in the amount the City of Kent paid to satisfy that loan—\$196,894.17—

protects the City of Kent's interests while avoiding any inequitable windfall to Bel Air & Briney.

Bel Air & Briney's framing of the issue as whether it would gain an unearned windfall from the purchase is not supported by the case law. Appellant's Brief at p. 24. In fact, this approach completely misses the point of equitable subrogation. It is not that Bel Air & Briney received a windfall from the *purchase* by the City of Kent, it is that it received a windfall from the *payoff of the senior lien*. The Court in *Columbia Community Bank* described how equitable subrogation works as follows:

In the refinancing context, it is generally not the debtor who would become unjustly enriched by the payment of his or her debt by a third party; rather, it is the junior lienholder. The reason is that, absent subrogation, the third party's payment would bump the number two security interest into the number one position without the junior lienholder having taken any action to warrant such an advancement. [Citation omitted.] We prevent this unjust enrichment by subrogating the party paying off the priority interest to the party who held that interest, to the extent of the former lienholder's interest at the time.

177 Wn.2d at 575.

Bel Air & Briney would be unjustly enriched if it were to suddenly enjoy a first lien position solely because the City of Kent paid off MortgageIt, the first lienholder.

2. Bel Air & Briney Was Not Materially Prejudiced by the Court's Order Equitably Subrogating the City of Kent

A junior interest is not materially prejudiced if it is unaffected by the equitable subrogation of a party to the senior interest. *Prestance*

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